

AGRODEP Working Paper 0031

July 2016

Does Distance Still Matter for Agricultural Trade?

Christian Ebeke Mireille Ntsama Etoundi

AGRODEP Working Papers contain preliminary material and research results. They have been peer reviewed but have not been subject to a formal external peer review via IFPRI's Publications Review Committee. They are circulated in order to stimulate discussion and critical comments; any opinions expressed are those of the author(s) and do not necessarily reflect the opinions of AGRODEP.

About the Authors

Christian Ebeke is and Economist at the International Monetary Fund.

Mireille Ntsama Etoundi is affiliated with CERDI, University of Auvergne France.

Acknowledgment

The authors thank Celine Carrere and Fousseini Traore for very useful comments and suggestions on an early draft. They would also like to thank AGRODEP for the financial support to carry out this research under a Gaps in Research Grant.

This research was undertaken as part of, and partially funded by, the CGIAR Research Program on Policies, Institutions, and Markets (PIM), which is led by IFPRI and funded by the CGIAR Fund Donors. This paper has gone through AGRODEP's peer-review procedure. The opinions expressed here belong to the authors, and do not necessarily reflect those of AGRODEP, IFPRI, PIM or CGIAR.

Table of Contents

1.	Introduction	6
2.	Empirical Framework	8
	Baseline Specifications	
	The Zeroes	
	Multilateral Resistance	9
	Robust Identification of Time-varying Parameters	9
	Data	9
3.	Econometric Results	
	Average Effects	
	Time-varying Coefficients	
4.	How Specific Are Food Exports for the "Distance Puzzle"?	
5.	Conclusion	
Re	eferences	
A	GRODEP Working Paper Series	

Abstract:

This paper quantifies the average effect of distance on bilateral agricultural trade using a large sample of countries. We focus on identifying time-varying effects of distance on trade to test whether the marginal effect has gradually diminished in recent years; to do this, we use a sample that includes more than 200 countries and spans the period 1995-2013. A variety of robustness checks and model specifications are used. The results suggest that the "distance effect" significantly explains bilateral agricultural trade flows.

Résumé

Cet article quantifie l'effet moyen de la distance sur le commerce agricole bilatéral utilisant un large échantillon de pays. Nous nous concentrons sur l'identification des effets variables dans le temps de la distance sur le commerce pour tester si l'effet marginal a progressivement diminué au cours des dernières années; pour ce faire, nous utilisons un échantillon comprenant plus de 200 pays et couvrant la période 1995-2013. Un ensemble de tests de robustesse et une large gamme de spécifications du modèle sont utilisés. Les résultats suggèrent que l' « effet distance » explique de manière significative les flux commerciaux agricoles bilatéraux.

1. Introduction

Bilateral distance remains one of the main obstacles to stronger bilateral trade links between African countries, despite recent efforts to increase regional integration and further the modernization of communication infrastructure. This paper focuses on to what extent transportation and informational costs, proxied by bilateral distance between the supply and demand markets, shape bilateral trade intensity.

We focus agricultural trade rather than total trade for several reasons. First is the importance of agricultural trade in overall trade in the region. Second, functioning agricultural markets have the potential to reduce food shortages and food insecurity when agricultural production is supported by increased domestic and foreign demand. Finally, agricultural trade can increase the diversification of agricultural markets for both exporters and importers, leading to an increase in welfare.

The agricultural sector is one of the main channels for employment generation and poverty reduction in developing countries. As demonstrated by Christiaensen et al. (2011), agriculture is significantly more effective than other sectors in reducing extreme poverty. Furthermore, focusing on Africa's manufacturing exports can be misleading, given the very high foreign value added embodied in these products. This implies limited domestic spillovers into the real economy. In addition, most of the papers that examine whether the "distance effect" has died in trade gravity models use total exports as the main dependent variable without distinguishing by products (Buch et al., 2004; Brun et al, 2005; Carrère and Schiff, 2005; Blum and Goldfarb, 2006 and Huang, 2007), thus neglecting the existence of possible heterogeneities at the product level. One exception is Berthelon and Freund (2008), who study the distance impact on the trade of a highly disaggregated sample of goods and find that homogeneous products are twice as likely to have become more distance-sensitive compared with differentiated goods.

While global technological change has reduced tangible trade costs, it is also still possible that sectors with high trade costs will continue to exhibit a strong negative distance elasticity. Agriculture constitutes one of these sectors, as it includes perishable goods; this could explain why certain agricultural exports may be strongly sensitive to distance costs. This is in line with the recent literature examining how distance elasticity varies with the degree of product homogeneity. Some goods became more substitutable, making it optimal to purchase a greater fraction of any given product from nearby countries, presumably those with lower transport costs. Berthelon and Freund (2008) find that goods that have experienced increases in their elasticity of substitution have also experienced increases in the magnitude of their distance elasticity, although these effects are small in magnitude. A more significant result is that homogeneous goods are more likely to have experienced an increase in the magnitude of the distance coefficient than differentiated goods. Overall, the results imply that substitutable goods and goods with high trade costs are more likely to have increases in the elasticity of distance. This can apply particularly to agricultural products.

It is also increasingly important to understand the effects of the many regional trade agreements involving developing countries that have been established over the past decade, particularly for agricultural products. Such agreements could lead to a gradual increase in the marginal and negative effects of distance on bilateral trade flows suggesting that trade flows with neighbors increase faster because of new regional agreements. However, not all trade products will react symmetrically to these reduced transaction costs (lower tariffs or transportation costs). Some products (e.g. agricultural products) can be more sensitive to the opening of neighboring markets compared to other products. In such a scenario, the effect of distance on bilateral trade of these products will be increasingly negative.

Finally, some regions of the developing world, such as sub-Saharan Africa have become important sources of arable land sales to foreign investors, including for large-scale agricultural purposes (Arezki et al., 2015). As foreign investors move into Africa and boost exports of agricultural products to the rest of the world (thereby using Africa in their supply chain network), this could result in an increase in the average distance for agricultural trade, thereby weakening the negative coefficient of distance on trade in the gravity model.

This paper takes advantage of trade data available in the new and comprehensive BACI database on trade developed by CEPII. This database covers more than 200 countries and about 5000 products at the HS6 level from 1995 to 2013. The paper will quantify the average effect of bilateral distance on bilateral agricultural trade using a large sample of countries and focusing on sub-Saharan Africa. We will then focus on identifying time-varying effects of the distance on trade to test whether the marginal effect has gradually diminished over recent years and whether the distance effect is particularly different for agricultural products. A variety of robustness checks and model specifications are used. The results suggest that the "distance effect" remains substantial and explains a significant part of bilateral agricultural trade flows.

The recent literature on the distance elasticity of trade has led to interesting results. Disdier and Head (2008) conducted one the most comprehensive study of the distance puzzle, examining1,467 distance effects estimated in 103 papers in a meta-analysis. They find that the estimated negative impact of distance on trade has remained persistently high since the middle of the last century.

Omitted variable bias could also explain the distance puzzle. For example, if transaction costs are higher in countries with poor institutions, falling communications costs will result in a lesser reduction in trade costs (François and Manchin, 2007). Rising distance costs could also be due to the fixed-cost component of trade costs falling more rapidly than the variable component (Brun et al., 2005) or to the handling of zeroes in the data (if zero trade flows are positively correlated with distance, then ignoring zero trade flows could result in a spurious distance puzzle; Felbermayr and Kohler, 2006).

Carrere and de Melo (2009) further highlight that the distance puzzle — the surprising finding that the volume of trade has become increasingly sensitive to distance — is driven by low-income countries, which increasingly trade with geographically closer partners. In other words, the estimates of the elasticity of

trade to distance only increase over time for low-income countries; this result is robust when regional agreements are controlled for or when an Africa-specific effect is examined.

We contribute to this literature by using disaggregated export data focusing on agricultural trade rather than total exports to pin down the dynamic effects of distance on trade.

The structure of this paper is as follows. Section 2 presents and discusses the methodology and data used. Section 3 reports and discusses the results, and Section 4 concludes.

2. Empirical Framework

Baseline Specifications

The most popular model in the empirical trade literature which has been found to explain a significant proportion of bilateral trade flows is the gravity model. This model relates trade flows to geographical distance between countries and others variables, such as countries' sizes (GDPs), common language, colonial links, etc.

The basic gravity model in log-linear form is specified as follows:

$$ln(Xij, t) = a + f31 * ln(Yi, t) + f32 * ln(Yj, t) + f33 * ln(Dij) + f34 * ln(Mijt) + u_{it} + n_{jt} + E_{ijt}$$
(1)

where $X_{ij,t}$ are agricultural exports from country i to country j at time t; $Y_{i,t}$ and $Y_{j,t}$ are the GDPs of country i and j, respectively, at time t; D_{ij} is the distance between the capital cities of the two countries; M_{ijt} is the matrix of control variables; and uit and njt are exporter-time and importer- time fixed effects.

It is worth noting that the model in Equation 1 can be re-written to allow for time-varying parameters through repeated cross-sectional estimations for each period t. This would help derive the path for the marginal effect of the distance on agricultural trade from repeated cross-sectional regressions for each year:

$$ln(Xij, t) = a_t + f_{3_{1t}} * ln(Yi, t) + f_{3_{2t}} * ln(Yj, t) + f_{3_{3t}} * ln(Dij) + f_{4_t} * ln(Mijt) + u_i + n_j + E_{ijt}$$
(2)

The estimation of gravity models such as (1) or (2) faces a number of challenges.

The Zeroes

First is the bias due to omitted variables; second is the potential sample selection bias due to the high concentration of zero values in the dependent variable (when bilateral trade flows are almost nonexistent between a non-negligible number of country pairs). We propose solutions based on two different estimators recently used in the literature: OLS and pseudo-Poisson Maximum Likelihood estimator (PPML).¹

¹ The PPML is suitable to avoid the heteroskdasticity problem due to log linearization and the concentration of zeroes.

Multilateral Resistance

Naïve empirical applications of gravity equations are often criticized because the estimated coefficients seem to be overestimated (see Anderson and van Wincoop, 2003; Feenstra, 2004). Indeed, exports depend not only on bilateral trade costs but also on bilateral trade costs relative to a measure of both countries' trade costs to all other countries – the so-called multilateral resistance. To control for the multilateral resistance, we can use a mix of country-time fixed effects. However, because the model is actually amended to be estimated on repeated yearly cross-sectional specifications, we control for the exporter and the importer fixed effects to reduce the bias due to unobservables.

Robust Identification of Time-varying Parameters

Several approaches can be used to estimate the time-varying estimates of the effect of distance on bilateral agricultural exports. First, we can use the full sample and recover the time-varying marginal effects through various interaction terms of distance interacted with year-specific dummies. Second, the time-varying estimates of the effect of distance can be identified by resorting to repeated cross-sectional estimates for each period. The advantage of this approach is that it allows for a full heterogeneity of the model insofar as the effects of all explanatory variables are also estimated for each period and not just the coefficient of the distance variable is allowed to vary every year. This is particularly relevant when it comes to controlling for the time-varying effect of regional trade agreements (RTAs) on bilateral trade over time to reduce any confounding bias with the distance effects. Given the large sample we use in this paper, the second approach seems feasible and appears more flexible. It is also easier to implement when using the PPML estimator, which is found to provide more robust estimates under panel gravity specifications (Silva and Tenreyro, 2010).

Data

One important contribution of this paper is a view of the effect of bilateral distance on agricultural trade within Africa by taking advantage of the information on agricultural trade available in the BACI dataset. The dataset consists of annual trade by product observations covering the period 1995 to 2013.² The dependent variable is the level of agricultural exports within a country pair. We control for both countries' GDPs and per capita GDPs that are used as a proxy of economic masses and economic development levels. We also control for the presence of regional trade agreements at the country pair-level using data provided by Jeffrey Bergstrand (Database on Economic Integration Agreements, September 2015); these agreements are expected to boost bilateral trade. All other control variables (geographical distance, common currency,

 $^{^{2}}$ It is worth pointing out that some intra-African trade data remains sparse and data quality might still be an issue despite efforts by the CEPII team to assemble a comprehensive trade database.

landlocked status, and common language) are taken from GeoDist of CEPII. Agricultural exports are aggregated by summing up HS6 categories 01–04, 07–11, and 16–22.³

3. Econometric Results

This section begins by presenting the effect of distance on food exports. We explore the effects from various subsamples and compare the estimates with what we find in Africa south of the Sahara.

Average Effects

Table 1 presents the results of our econometric estimations for the unrestricted world sample of exporters and importers, for the Sub-Saharan African exporters, Latin America exporters, and Asian exporters using the PPML estimator.

	(1)	(2)	(3) i=SSA;	(4)	(5)
	XX71 -1		j=SSA	: 140	
	world	1=55A		I=LAC	1=Asia
Bilateral distance, log	-0.864***	-1.035***	-0.624***	-0.992***	-0.856***
GDP of exporter, log	(-97.09) 0.918***	(-13.08) 0.864***	(-6.891) 1.757**	(-30.95) 1.260***	(-15.93) 1.770***
GDP of importer, log	(6.301) 1.917***	(3.231) 2.257***	(1.979) 1.197*	(4.123) 1.768***	(4.604) 1.855***
	(22.66)	(9.146)	(1.659)	(10.17)	(6.028)
GDP per capita of exporter, log	-0.151	-0.688*	-1.188	-0.675**	-0.651
	(-0.919)	(-1.664)	(-1.003)	(-2.067)	(-1.368)
GDP per capita of importer, log	-0.513***	-1.851***	-0.613	-0.661***	-1.111***
	(-5.602)	(-6.733)	(-0.715)	(-3.491)	(-3.397)
Common language dummy	0.204***	0.142**	0.0682	0.344***	0.672***
Common border dummy	(8.789) 0.693***	(2.205) 1.087***	(0.368) 1.029***	(5.774) 0.416***	(3.845) 1.239***
Colonial link dummy	(28.31) 0.414***	(6.749) 1.366***	(7.224)	(6.680) 0.679***	(18.90) 0.941***
Regional trade agreement dummy	(15.23) 0.276***	(16.78) 0.733***	1.375***	(9.579) 0.259***	(4.794) 0.600***
	(14.60)	(7.514)	(5.421)	(8.578)	(8.952)
Exporter-time and Importer-time FE	Yes	Yes	Yes	Yes	Yes
Observations	249,437	24,537	3,670	31,146	27,763
R-squared	0.805	0.751	0.709	0.912	0.935
Robust z-statistics in parentheses.					
*** p<0.01, ** p<0.05, * p<0.1					

Table 1. Determinants of food exports. PPML estimates, 1995-2013

³ These include: live animals, meat, fish, dairy, edible vegetables, fruits, coffee, tea, spices, cereals, milling products, and foodstuffs.

The results show a remarkable stability of the effect of distance on exports when we change the sample according to the origin of the exporter. The distance variable has a negative and statistically significant point estimate that hovers between -0.9 and -1.0. One exception is column 3, which focuses only on sub-Saharan Africa's food exporters and importers. The distance coefficient drops by 40 percent to -0.6 in this column, which is consistent with the view that within Africa, distance is less of a concern for food exports given that most countries within sub-regions export similar agricultural products and thus comparative advantages are less prevalent for these products.

Another explanation for the results in column 3 could be related to foreign direct investment (FDI) in Africa's agricultural sector. To the extent that foreign land acquisition in Africa for large-scale agriculture boosts exports of agricultural products to the rest of the world (the website Land Matrix reports that the bulk of Africa's production from FDIs is exported and that more than 50 percent of the exports goes back to the country of origin of the multinational corporation), this can result in an increase in the average distance to agricultural trade, thereby weakening the negative coefficient of distance on trade in the gravity model. Recent surges of arable land sales to foreign investors in Africa are very likely to be a plausible explanation (Arezki et al., 2015).

One question that remains is whether the average effect of distance on agricultural trade has been constant over time or has risen because of trade institutional arrangements and other factors. The next section focuses on estimating time-varying distance coefficients.

Time-varying Coefficients

This section reports the estimation results of Model 2 in which time-varying coefficients are estimated. We use four different samples to test the dynamics of the distance coefficient: the whole sample and then samples of African exporters, Latin American exporters, and Asian exporters. The results are shown in Figure 1. Time-varying point estimates show a remarkable stability over time and across regions, with estimates hovering around -0.8 and -1.0. The negative distance effect on agricultural exports is broadly similar across regions and has not vanished over the years.







Time-varying distance coefficients: Exporter=LAC (PPML estimates on repeated cross-sectional data) 0



Time-varying distance coefficients: Exporter=Asia (PPML estimates on repeated cross-sectional data)



4. How Specific Are Food Exports for the "Distance Puzzle"?

This section examines the differences in the sensitivity of food exports to distance by disaggregating by product categories and by regions. One interesting reason to examine the "composition" effect in the "distance puzzle" is that agricultural exports, in contrast to other commodities (oil or metals) or other manufacturing goods (such as textiles), are more perishable and thus more sensitive to distance. An alternative explanation could be that these products are also more sensitive to time which is ultimately correlated with distance as well. Hummels and Schaur (2013) find higher time values for automotive goods and for foods and beverages, when examining the effects of shipment time on trade. In the case of foods and beverages, where storability is particularly important, the authors argue that firms respond to long shipment times by making more frequent shipments on airplanes.

One could therefore argue that the explanation of the higher distance effect on overall trade found in the literature has nothing to do with trade costs or RTAs but rather with trade composition. If this were to be true, one would then find that the distance effect is larger and more statistically significant for a certain type of product than for others; this should hold irrespective of the region of the export origin, assuming that products which are defined as distance-sensitive are relatively homogenous between regions. We proceed in several steps to test for the product composition effect. First, we examine to what extent the average effect of distance is lower for non-food exports in the global sample. Second, we verify whether the differences in point estimates between the products are broadly similar across regions.

From the BACI database, we construct a "non-commodity products" category, which is defined as total exports minus all commodities (e.g. fuel, metals, and agricultural exports). Due to sample coverage, the regressions can only reasonably be performed on a yearly basis for the global sample and the Asia exporter sample. The results shown in Figure 2 point to a clear difference between the distance effect on agricultural products and its effect on non-commodity exports. The distance puzzle is greater for agricultural exports, as expected, and this result holds even after factoring in the time-varying effects of regional trade agreements on bilateral exports.







5. Conclusion

This paper has reexamined the role of distance to trade on export performance. It has focused on the timevariability of the distance effect and has considered a disaggregation across products with a focus on agricultural exports. The results are two-fold. First, the distance effect is stronger for agricultural exports compared to other commodities. Second, the distance effect has not vanished over time. These results are robust to model specifications that controlled for other gravity determinants of exports, including regional trade agreements.

References

- Anderson, J., and E. van Wincoop. 2004). "Trade Costs." *Journal of Economic Literature* 42(3): 691–751.
 _____. (2003). "Gravity with Gravitas: A Solution to the Border Puzzle." *American Economic Review* 93(1): 170–92.
- Arezki, R., K. Deininger, and H. Selod. 2015. "What Drives the Global "Land Rush"? *World Bank Econ Rev* 29 (2): 207-233.
- Berthelon, M., and C. Freund. 2008. "On the Conservation of Distance in International Trade."
- Journal of International Economics 75(2): 310-320.
- Buch, C. M., J. Kleinert, and F. Toubal. 2004. "The Distance Puzzle: On the Interpretation of the Distance Coefficient in Gravity Equations." *Economics Letters* 83: 293-298.
- Blum, B. S., and A. Goldfarb. 2006. "Does the Internet Defy the Law of Gravity?" *Journal of International Economics* 70(2): 384-405.
- Brun J.-F., C. Carrère, P. Guillaumont, and J. De Melo. 2005. "Has Distance Died? Evidence from a Panel Gravity Model." *World Bank Economic Review* 19(1): 99-120.
- Cairncross, E. 1997. "The Death of Distance: How the Communications Revolution is Changing Our Lives." *Harvard Business Press.*
- Carrère, C., and J. De Melo. 2009. Has Distance Died? Update. FERDI policy brief. Paris: FERDI.
- Carrère C., and M. Schiff. 2005. "On the Geography of Trade: Distance is Alive and Well." *Revue Economique*, 56: 1249-74.
- Christiaensen, L., L. Demery, and J. Kuhl. 2011. "The (Evolving) Role of Agriculture in Poverty Reduction: An Empirical Perspective." *Journal of Development Economics* 96(2): 239-254.
- Disdier, A-C., and K. Head. 2008. "The Puzzling Persistence of the Distance Effect on Bilateral Trade." *The Review of Economics and Statistics* 90(1): 37-48.
- Felbermayr, G. J., and Kohler, W. (2006). "Exploring the Intensive and Extensive Margins of World Trade", *Review of World Economics*, 142(4), 642–674.
- Ghemawat, P. 2001. "Distance Still Matters." Harvard Business Review 79(8): 137-147.
- Huang, R. R. 2007. "Distance and Trade: Disentangling Unfamiliarity Effects and Transport Cost Effects." *European Economic Review* 51(1): 161-181.
- Hummels, D., and Schaur, G. 2013. "Time as a Trade Barrier." *American Economic Review*, 103(7): 2935-59.

- Leamer, E., and J. Levinson. 1995. "International Trade Theory: The Evidence." In *Handbook of International Economics, Vol. 3*, edited by G. Grossman and K. Rogoff. Amsterdam: Elsevier Science.
- Levard, L., and A. Benkahla. 2013. *How to Promote Intra-African Agricultural Trade? Analysis of Possibilities and Impediments Regarding the Development of Intra-African Agricultural Trade.* GRET (Groupe de recherche et d'échanges technologiques). Available at <u>http://www.gret.org/wp-content/uploads/ETli36_integral.pdf.</u>
- Loungani, P., A. Mody, and A. Razin. 2002. "The Global Disconnect: The Role of Transactional Distance and Scale Economies in Gravity Equations." *Scottish Journal of Political Economy* 49(5): 526-543.
- Márquez-Ramos, L., I. Martínez-Zarzoso, and C. Suárez-Burguet. 2007. "The Role of Distance in Gravity Regressions: Is There Really a Missing Globalisation Puzzle?" *B. E. Journal of Economic Analysis and Policy* 7(1): Article 6.
- Santos Silva, J., and S. Tenreyro. 2010. "On the Existence of the Maximum Likelihood Estimates in Poisson Regression." *Economics Letters* 107(2): 310-312.

AGRODEP Working Paper Series

- 0015. Modeling the Determinants of Poverty in Zimbabwe. Carren Pindiriri. 2015.
- 0016. The Potential Impact of Climate Change on Nigerian Agriculture. Joshua Ajetomobi, Olusanya Ajakaiye, and Adeniyi Gbadegesin. 2015.
- 0017. How Did War Dampen Trade in the MENA Region? Fida Karam and Chahir Zaki. 2015.
- 0018. Rising Global Food Prices and Price Variability: A Blessing or a Curse for Global Food Supply? Mekbib G. Haile. 2015.
- 0019. Mother's Education and Children's Nutrition Outcomes in Burkina Faso: Is there a Strong Casual Relationship? Eugenie Maiga. 2015.
- 0020. The Impact of Namibia's Income Tax Reform. A CGE Analysis. Blessing Chiripanhura and Ronald Chifamba. 2015.
- 0021. An Analysis of the Fishing Industry in Namibia: The Structure, Performance, Challenges, and Prospects for Growth and Diversification. Blessing Chiripanhura and Mogos Teweldemedhin. 2016.
- 0022. Artificial Insemination, Livestock Productivity and Economic Growth in Senegal. François Joseph Cabral. 2016.
- 0023. Impacts of Health Services on Agricultural Labor Productivity of Rural Households in Burkina Faso. Omer S. Combary. 2016.
- 0024. Fertilizer Subsidy and Agricultural Productivity in Senegal. Abdoulaye Seck. 2016.
- 0025. Decision to Export among Ghanaian Manufacturing Firms: Does Export Destination Influence the Entry Sunk Cost. Francis M. Mulangu and Luke O. Olarinde. 2016.
- 0026. Informal Trade and the Price of Import Bans: Evidence from Nigeria. Sami Bensassi, Joachim Jarreau, and Cristina Mitaritonna. 2016.
- 0027. The European Union's and United States of America's Non–Tariff Measures: Impacts on African Exports. Kareem, Olayinka Idowu. 2016.
- 0028. An Exploration of the Determinants of Bribery in Benin's Transborder Trade. Sami Bensassi, Joachim Jarreau, and Cristina Mitaritonna. 2016.
- 0029. Natural Resource Curse in Africa: Dutch Disease and Institutional Explanations. Richard Mulwa and Jane Mariara. 2016.
- 0030. Have Migrant Remittances Influenced Self-Employment and Welfare among Recipient Households in Nigeria? Kabir Kayode Salman. 2016.